In the

Supreme Court of Florida

HAROLD LEE HARVEY, JR.,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court for the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Okeechobee County, Florida

Honorable Dwight L. Geiger

Appellant's Amended Initial Brief

Ross B. Bricker Florida Bar No. 801951 Jeffrey A. Koppy Ellen C. Lamond Jenner & Block One IBM Plaza Chicago, Illinois 60611 Tel: (312) 923-4524

Fax: (312) 923-4524 Fax: (312) 840-7524

Pro Bono Attorneys for Appellant Harold Lee Harvey, Jr.

Dated: July 21, 2000

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a capital case. Appellant Harold Lee Harvey, Jr. ("Mr. Harvey") is sentenced to die under an unconstitutional conviction and judgment. He sought post-conviction relief before the trial court pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. The trial court denied Mr. Harvey's request and he appealed. This Court remanded for an evidentiary hearing on claims 1(a),1(f), 2(a), 2(b), 2(c), 2(d), 2(e), 2(f), 2(g), 3, and 16 raised in the Rule 3.850 Motion. In response, the trial court conducted a six-day evidentiary hearing between August 17 and August 24, 1998. In January 1999, the trial court again denied Mr. Harvey's request for post-conviction relief.

As demonstrated below, the order denying post-conviction relief is erroneous and contrary to law. It should be reversed, Mr. Harvey's conviction and sentence vacated, and the case remanded for a new trial.

II.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

A. ARREST, TRIAL, AND DIRECT APPEAL

On February 27, 1985, the Okeechobee County Sheriff arrested Harold Lee Harvey, Jr. and charged him with second-degree murder and robbery in connection with the deaths of William Herman Boyd and Ruby Louise Boyd, husband and wife. (R. 03111.). Another individual, Harry Scott Stiteler, also was

¹The record in this case derives from three sources: (1) the record from Mr. Harvey's direct appeal, cited as "(R. ____)"; (2) the collateral record from Mr. Harvey's appeal from the first denial of his Rule 3.850 motion, cited as "(CR __)." The collateral record includes the transcript of an evidentiary hearing conducted in March 1993 on a juror issue; and (3) the current Post-Conviction

arrested and similarly charged. (R. 03102). On March 7, 1985, a grand jury indicted Mr. Harvey and Mr. Stiteler for first-degree murder. Both defendants pled not guilty to the charges. (R. 3104-5.)²

The trial court appointed Robert J. Watson ("Attorney Watson") of Stuart, Florida, a solo practitioner, as counsel for Mr. Harvey. (R. 03127.) Mr. Watson, who had never before tried a capital case alone, moved in advance of trial for appointment of co-counsel. (R. 03237-39, CR. 937.) The motion was denied. (R. 03261.)

During the guilt phase, the State relied primarily on Mr. Harvey's confession and the physical evidence derived from it, as well as graphic postmortem photographs of the victims. (R. 01874-02356.) Although Attorney Watson moved to suppress the confession, he failed to raise as grounds for suppression Mr. Harvey's unequivocal request for counsel before any incriminating statements were made, as reflected in a booking sheet prepared shortly after Mr. Harvey's arrest.

The State's evidence of Mr. Harvey's guilt went essentially unrebutted and unchallenged. Attorney Watson did not call any witnesses in his guilt-phase

Record from the January 1999 denial of Mr. Harvey's Rule 3.850 motion following an August 1998 evidentiary hearing mandated by this Court, which is cited as "(PCR ____)." In addition, the Court should note that because the court reporter and Okeechobee County Clerk failed to paginate consecutively Volumes 10-15 of the Corrected Post-Conviction Record to follow Volumes 1-9, Volumes 10-15 of the Corrected Record have their own internal, non-consecutive, pagination. Rather than continuing to delay this appeal by sending the Corrected Record back for repagination, Mr. Harvey's counsel has elected to file the brief and cite to the Post-Conviction Record by citing the volume and pagination used in that volume.

²The Court later severed the two cases. (R. 03430.) On the eve of his trial, Mr. Stiteler pled guilty pursuant to a plea agreement and received a life sentence.

defense. Nor did he conduct any meaningful cross-examination of the State's witnesses. Not surprisingly, the jury deliberated less than one hour before returning guilty verdicts on two counts of first-degree murder.

The State's sentencing case included photographic evidence depicting drawings on the wall of the jail cell in which Mr. Harvey had been held, and authentication and foundation witnesses. For Mr. Harvey's case, Attorney Watson called friends, family members and a psychologist. (R. 02734-02812.)

The jury retired to deliberate sentencing at 4:10 p.m. on June 20, 1986. Approximately 51 minutes later, the jury voted eleven to one to recommend sentences of death on both counts. (R. 03046-47.)

The trial court followed the jury's recommendation. (R. 03051-52.) In a later written memorandum, the court found that the State had established four statutory aggravating factors: (1) the murder was committed while engaged in a robbery or burglary; (2) it was heinous, atrocious, and cruel; (3) it was committed for the purpose of avoiding lawful arrest; and (4) it was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner. Harvey v. State, 529 So. 2d 1083, 1087 & n.4 (Fla. 1988). The only mitigating circumstances found by the court were the non-statutory factors of low IQ, poor educational skills, and poor social skills. Id. at n.5.

Mr. Harvey appealed his conviction and death sentences to this Court, which affirmed the trial court's judgment. <u>Id.</u> at 1088. The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on February 21, 1989. <u>Harvey v. Florida</u>, 489 U.S. 1040, 109 S. Ct. 1175, 103 L.Ed.2d 237 (1989). The governor denied Mr. Harvey's request for executive clemency.

B. <u>POST-CONVICTION PROCEEDINGS</u>.

1. The Rule 3.850 Motion

On August 27, 1990, Mr. Harvey timely filed a motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 (the "Rule 3.850 motion"). (CR. 169-548.) On October 5, 1992, the trial court summarily denied all but one of Mr. Harvey's claims. The court denied the one surviving claim, Claim 1(b), on March 17, 1993 after an evidentiary hearing. (CR. 1649-50.)

2. Remand From Florida Supreme Court

Mr. Harvey appealed the trial court's denial of his Rule 3.850 motion. On February 23, 1995, in a revised opinion, this Court found merit to certain issues raised in that motion and directed the trial court to hold an evidentiary hearing on claims 1(a),1(f), 2(a), 2(b), 2(c), 2(d), 2(e), 2(f), 2(g), 3, and 16 to determine whether Mr. Harvey was denied effective assistance of counsel. Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 1995).

3. <u>Motion To Disqualify Judge Dwight L. Geiger</u>

On remand, the acting chief judge of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit reassigned the case to Judge Dwight L. Geiger after Chief Judge L.B. Vocelle, to whom the case had been assigned on remand, became ill on the eve of the evidentiary hearing. On November 25, 1996, Mr. Harvey filed a Motion To Disqualify Judge Geiger because, *inter alia*, Attorney Watson's wife and legal associate had represented Judge Geiger's estranged wife for several years in a bitter and contentious divorce proceeding against Judge Geiger. Judge Geiger denied Mr. Harvey's motion to disqualify on the same day he received it. (R. 1560.) On

February 20, 1997, the Fourth District Court of Appeal issued an Order to Show Cause why Mr. Harvey's Petition should not be granted.

On February 24, 1997, the State filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus in this Court against the Fourth District Court of Appeal. (R. 1564.) On May 1, 1997, this Court held that it had direct jurisdiction over all appeals from the circuit courts in death cases. (R. 1566.) On December 29, 1997, this Court denied Mr. Harvey's Petition for a Writ of Mandamus to disqualify Judge Geiger on a 5-2 vote. (R. 1571.)

4. The August 1998 Evidentiary Hearing And Judge Geiger's Denial Of Post-Conviction Relief.

With the jurisdictional and disqualification issues resolved, the trial court conducted a six-day evidentiary hearing between August 17 and August 24, 1998. Mr. Harvey called 18 witnesses, including Attorney Watson, three mental health experts, and a capital defense expert. The State called one witness, a jailer. It did not present any mental health evidence.

On January 26, 1999, Judge Geiger denied post-conviction relief in an Amended Order On Motion For Post Conviction Relief ("Order"), finding that Attorney Watson's performance did not fall below the reasonable conduct standard of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). (See Order at 10.) Judge Geiger did not address whether Attorney Watson's conduct had prejudiced Mr. Harvey. (Order at 10.) Nor did Judge Geiger cite any case law in support of his conclusions.

III.

STATEMENT OF FACTS DEVELOPED DURING THE AUGUST 1998 EVIDENTIARY HEARING

Mr. Harvey's case generated significant publicity in Okeechobee and the surrounding communities, including widespread television, newspaper, and radio coverage. The case was investigated by a team of Florida Department of Law Enforcement and Okeechobee County Sheriff's Department agents. It was personally prosecuted by the newly-elected State's Attorney, along with his Chief Assistant and numerous members of his staff. The victims were of wealth and station in Okeechobee and in Florida.

While Attorney Watson is today an accomplished criminal trial lawyer, he was not so qualified at the time he represented Mr. Harvey. Mr. Harvey's case was Attorney Watson's first capital murder trial as lead counsel, and his first as sole counsel. He had never conducted a penalty phase before Mr. Harvey's trial.

The notoriety of this case, and the disparity in experience and resources between Attorney Watson and the State might well underlie, in some way, the errors and misjudgments by Attorney Watson identified during the evidentiary hearing before Judge Geiger. These factors do not, however, excuse them. The Sixth Amendment entitles Mr. Harvey to the effective assistance of counsel in his defense. He did not receive that assistance here, to his great prejudice.

As demonstrated below, Attorney Watson failed to conduct any investigation of Mr. Harvey's background, sabotaged the possibility of a competent mental health examination, and overlooked critical evidence in his own files. The result was that Attorney Watson was blind to possible theories of defense based on Mr. Harvey's lack of criminal responsibility, made a grossly ineffective -- indeed

fraudulent -- presentation of statutory and non-statutory mitigating evidence, and failed to raise as grounds for suppression Mr. Harvey's unequivocal request for counsel before any incriminating statements were made to the State. These textbook errors were exacerbated when Attorney Watson unilaterally admitted Mr. Harvey's guilt to first-degree murder, conceded aggravating factors for sentencing, and distanced himself from Mr. Harvey in his remarks to the jury, all in derogation of the Florida and federal Constitutions. The cumulative impact of these and Attorney Watson's other failures to meet applicable professional norms for defense counsel undermined the reliability of Mr. Harvey's entire criminal trial.

A. ATTORNEY WATSON DID NOT INVESTIGATE OR PRESENT EVIDENCE OF MR. HARVEY'S MENTAL ILLNESSES, INCLUDING ORGANIC BRAIN DAMAGE.

This Court directed the trial court to conduct an evidentiary hearing on Claim 3 of Mr. Harvey's Rule 3.850 motion, which asserts that "Mr. Harvey was denied a competent mental health examination and counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and arrange for such an examination." 656 So. 2d at 1257. The evidence adduced on Claim 3 at the evidentiary hearing shows the following:

1. Attorney Watson Limited Mr. Harvey's Psychological Examination To A Personality Assessment, Refused To Provide The Psychologist With Information On Mr. Harvey's Background, And Refused To Permit The Psychologist To Discuss The Circumstances Of The Crime With Mr. Harvey.

Attorney Watson hired Dr. Fred Petrilla, a grammar school psychologist from Vero Beach, to conduct a personality evaluation of Mr. Harvey in preparation for Mr. Harvey's trial. (PCR. v. 15, p. 959.) At the time, Dr. Petrilla's practice consisted exclusively of counseling Vero Beach teenagers and adolescents. (PCR. v. 15, p. 963.) Dr. Petrilla had no training whatsoever in neuropsychology

and had no experience in capital cases. Mr. Harvey was only the second criminal defendant that he had ever examined. (PCR. v. 15, p. 964.)

Attorney Watson directed Dr. Petrilla to conduct a "personality assessment" of Mr. Harvey. (PCR. v. 12, p. 389, v. 15, pp. 959-60, 963.) A personality assessment is fundamentally different from a forensic mental health evaluation. It is oriented towards understanding psychological issues in an individual's personal life and developing a suitable course of counseling or therapy. (PCR. v. 15, p. 961.) A personality assessment does not include neurological testing to determine whether the subject has brain damage. Nor does it attempt to relate the subject's mental health in any way to the crime at issue. (PCR. v. 15, pp. 960-61.)

Dr. Petrilla conducted the personality assessment in an examination of Mr. Harvey over a few hours at the county jail. He concluded that Mr. Harvey was insecure, suffered from low self-esteem, was anxious, depressed, had low intelligence, and lacked social skills. (Def. Ex. 11.) Although Mr. Harvey was in jail facing the possibility of a death sentence, Dr. Petrilla's recommended course of treatment was for Mr. Harvey to commence self-esteem counseling and assertiveness training. (Def. Ex. 11.)

During the course of his limited "personality assessment," Dr. Petrilla asked for information concerning Mr. Harvey's social, developmental, and life history to better understand his subject. (PCR. v. 15, p. 963.) Attorney Watson refused to provide Dr. Petrilla with this information. Furthermore, Attorney Watson forbid Dr. Petrilla from discussing the circumstances of the offense with Mr. Harvey. (PCR. v. 15, p. 975.)

2. Attorney Watson Refused To Retain A Psychiatrist For Mr. Harvey Even After Dr. Petrilla Recommended A Companion Psychiatric Examination Because He Recognized "Red Flags" Of Organic Brain Damage.

Dr. Petrilla recognized that some of Mr. Harvey's responses to the personality tests were "red flags" suggesting the possibility of organic brain damage. (PCR. v. 15, p. 974.) He also recognized that his examination had not been "overly comprehensive." (PCR. v. 15, p. 974.) As a result, Dr. Petrilla told Attorney Watson to obtain a companion psychiatric evaluation of Mr. Harvey. (PCR. v. 15, pp. 972-75.) Dr. Petrilla reasoned that only a psychiatrist could evaluate the red flags he discovered, test more thoroughly for organic brain dysfunction, and evaluate the functioning of Mr. Harvey's frontal, temporal, occipital, and parietal brain lobes. (PCR. v. 15, pp. 974-75.)

Dr. Petrilla recommended three or four specific psychiatrists to Attorney Watson. On February 22, 1986, following up on Dr. Petrilla's recommendation, Attorney Watson prepared a "Memo to File" to remind himself to retain a psychiatrist. (Def. Ex. 4; PCR. v. 10, p. 82.) The Memo to File, introduced into evidence as part of Defendant's Exhibit No. 4, states:

I need to get a hold of a psychiatrist to examine Mr. Harvey. I should probably call one of the Desais in Fort Pierce.

Dr. Petrilla also telephoned Attorney Watson with other recommendations of specific psychiatrists. For example, a telephone message slip, also introduced into evidence as part of Defendant's Exhibit No. 4, reflects that on May 22, 1986, Dr. Petrilla telephoned Attorney Watson and left a message that he "knows a psy [psychiatrist] Carmen Ebalo - give her a call & tell her I referred her to you - she also works @ IR [Indian River] Mental Health Center." (Def. Ex. 4; PCR. v. 10, pp. 81-82.) Attorney Watson conceded during the evidentiary hearing

that Dr. Petrilla told him to retain a psychiatrist to evaluate Mr. Harvey and gave him several recommendations, including Dr. Ebalo and another psychiatrist, Dr. Alcady. (PCR. v. 10, pp. 81-82.)

The evidence shows that Attorney Watson took some steps to retain a psychiatrist, but ultimately failed to do so. On or about April 23, 1985, Attorney Watson filed a Motion to Adopt the April 19, 1985 motion by Mr. Harvey's codefendant, Scott Stiteler, requesting authorization to retain *both* a *psychiatrist and psychologist*. (Def. Ex. 2; PCR. v. 10, pp. 76-77.) As Stiteler's counsel explained, and as Attorney Watson specifically adopted, "[i]t is necessary to have both a psychological and psychiatric examination in order to receive a total picture of the defendant's mental condition in relation to the situation at the time of the alleged offense." (Def. Ex. 2; PCR. v. 10, pp. 76-77.) The State agreed to the appointment of both a psychiatrist and a psychologist for both defendants so they could investigate all aggravating and mitigating circumstances.

On May 2, 1985, the court granted the motions, authorizing Attorney Watson to hire both a psychologist and a psychiatrist. (PCR. v. 10, p. 80.) Attorney Watson thereafter represented to the court time and time again that he planned to retain a psychiatrist. For example, on January 16, 1986, Attorney Watson moved to postpone the penalty phase on grounds that he would move for a psychiatric evaluation prior to the penalty phase. (PCR. v. 10, pp. 78-79.) On February 18, 1986, Attorney Watson moved the court to increase professional mental health fees so that he could obtain a psychiatrist for Mr. Harvey. (PCR. v. 10, pp. 79-80.) The State had no objection. The court approved the request. (PCR. v. 10, p. 80.)

For inexplicable and inexcusable reasons, despite Dr. Petrilla's specific recommendation, Attorney Watson's own representations to the court, his co-

defendant's use of a psychiatrist, and the court's authorization of funds for such a purpose, Attorney Watson did not retain a psychiatrist to evaluate Mr. Harvey. (PCR. v. 10, pp. 72-73.)

3. Expert Testimony That Attorney Watson's Failure To Investigate Mr. Harvey's Mental Health Violated Reasonable Professional Norms And Prejudiced Mr. Harvey.

Capital Defense Expert Andrea Lyon testified concerning Attorney Watson's acts and omissions in the trial. At the time of the 1998 evidentiary hearing, Expert Lyon was a professor at the University of Michigan Law School. (PCR. v. 13, p. 563.) Before joining the faculty there, Expert Lyon worked for over 20 years at the Cook County Public Defender's Office in Chicago, Illinois, where she was chief of the homicide division and supervised 22 attorneys. (PCR. v. 13, pp. 563-65.) Expert Lyon also founded the Illinois Capital Resource Center, and has taught numerous seminars and workshops on defending capital cases. (PCR. v. 13, pp. 563-64, 566-67.) She has personally tried 131 homicide cases. Of those trials, Ms. Lyon tried 18 through a penalty phase in which the State was seeking the death penalty. She won all of them; no death sentences were imposed in any of her cases. (PCR. v. 13, p. 566.)

Expert Lyon testified that she was familiar with the professional norms for the investigation and defense of capital cases in Florida in 1985-86. (PCR. v. 13, p. 570.) Those norms included arranging for a thorough mental health examination and pursuing signs of organic brain damage vigorously. (PCR. v. 13, p. 578.) An attorney should particularly look at the defendant's history for any major trauma involving the head. (PCR. v. 13, p. 579.)

Expert Lyon testified that Attorney Watson's investigation of Mr. Harvey's mental health fell below reasonable professional norms. (PCR. v. 13, p.

591.) In particular, Ms. Lyon stated that Attorney Watson should have recognized that Dr. Petrilla lacked forensic expertise or any understanding of statutory and non-statutory mitigating factors because he recommended self-esteem therapy and assertiveness training. (PCR. v. 13, pp. 592-93.) In Expert Lyon's opinion, Dr. Petrilla's recommendation was "patently ridiculous" for a capital case mental health evaluation and "seems to indicate really no understanding of the purpose of this investigation or of his evaluation." (PCR. v. 13, p. 593.)

Expert Lyon further opined that Attorney Watson was ineffective for himself failing to recognize the many red flags of organic brain damage in Mr. Harvey's case, including the car accident, medical records, and the tire iron incident. (PCR. v. 13, p. 595.) Expert Lyon testified that such evidence of organic brain damage:

couldn't be any clearer indication of, barring like actually seeing the scar on a head or something, that you ought to take a look and see if there's organic brain damage. This is particularly important because studies have shown that organic brain damage is a mitigating factor that a death qualified jury pays attention to and cares about.

(PCR. v. 13, p. 595.)

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