## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HAROLD LEE HARVEY,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 95,075

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OKEECHOBEE COUNTY, FLORIDA

## AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CELIA A. TERENZIO ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR NO.0656879 1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300 WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409

(407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

##

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

... They went there to rob those people. And that's what they did. But after the robbery was over they talked about committing the murder.

You may even say they has decided to commit the murder at the time of the shooting. But the judge will tell you that for premeditation it requires more. It requires that there be a fixed and settled purpose and that there be time for reflection. ... That's different than something done very quickly with a very bad weapon.

(ROA VOL.15 2472).

Watson hammered upon the fact that the underlying felonies, robbery, burglary, and kidnaping, were completed, therefore, there was a break in the chain of circumstances and that the murders did not arise during the course of or escape from the felonies. As such, Watson asserted Harvey was not guilty under the felony murder theory (ROA VOL.10 1867-68, Vol.15 2468-72, 2527-29). Clearly, Watson was attempting to have the jury conclude the nexus between the felony and homicide had been broken. Watson's strategy was reasonable. <u>Cf. Parker v. State</u>, 570 So. 2d 1048, 1051 (1st DCA 1996)(explaining what factors may be considered in determining whether there has been a sufficient break in the chain of circumstances between felony and murder to reject a finding of first degree murder); Compare Jackson v. State, 575 So. 2d 181, 186 (Fla. 1991)(rejecting defense argument that state failed to prove that theft had been completed prior to murder in effort to rebut a finding of felony murder). As such, there is substantial competent evidence in the record to support the trial court's conclusion that the only concession was to second-degree murder<sup>27</sup>.

This Court's opinion remanding the case for a hearing supports the conclusion the concession was to second-degree murder only. In <u>Harvey v. Dugger</u>, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995), this Court opined, "[b]ecause the record before us is unclear as to whether Harvey was informed of the strategy to concede guilt and <u>argue for second-degree murder</u>, we remand to the trial court for an evidentiary hearing on this issue." (emphasis added). Clearly, this Court found the concession was

And finally, Harvey challenges the trial court's conclusion that there was a "valid evidentiary basis" for the second-degree murder conviction argument (IB 72-73). Harvey attempts to twist the finding, however, a review of the order reveals the clear import of the trial court's ruling. The trial judge opined, [t]he argument for a second degree conviction is not per se ineffective and is a valid trial strategy, for which there was an evidentiary basis." (PCR VOL. 9 1717). Without question, the trial court found that there was record evidence to support a second-degree murder conviction, and that as such, the strategy to pursue a second-degree conviction was valid under the circumstances of this case. As was the case in Brown v. State, 755 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 2000), a defense strategy to concede quilt of second-degree murder when the defendant is facing the death penalty is a valid and responsible strategy, especially where, as here, the defendant has confessed to the crime and the confession was presented to the jury.

> Thus, the record reflects that Chalu counsell did [defense not first-degree premeditated murder or felony murder, but rather, the record supports that Chalu set upon a strategy to do what he reasoned he could do in light of Brown's confession to convince the jury to find Brown guilty of a lesser offense. Faced with the overwhelmingly inculpatory evidence Brown's confession, Chalu made his informed decision to argue for a lesser

addressed solely to second-degree murder and not the charged crime of first-degree murder.

conviction in an effort to avoid a death sentence. See McNeal v. Wainwright, 722 F. 2d 674 (11th Cir. 1984). In this case, we find that Chalu provided full representation to Brown and made reasonable, informed tactical decisions as to his defense. Thus, we find that Chalu did act as an advocate for Brown, who has failed to demonstrate that Chalu's tactical decision to argue for a conviction on a lesser charge constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel under either prong of Strickland.

On this record, it is clear that Chalu repeatedly informed Brown of his strategy, believed that Brown understood it, and concluded that Brown agreed with strategic approach. As to trial strategy, Chalu testified that Brown was cooperative and "agreeable to pretty much everything we did." We note that Brown did not testify as to this or any other claim during the postconviction hearing. Thus, on this record, we find that Brown has demonstrated no ineffectiveness because the evidence presented during the postconviction hearing was that Chalu insured Brown's understanding of the implications of conceding guilt to a lesser homicide charge and that consented to Chalu's trial strategy.

Brown, 755 So. 2d at 630. Brown supports the trial court's conclusion in the instant case that Watson was not ineffective.

The state also asserts that Harvey does not bother to suggest what should have been presented as a possible guilt phase strategy. Harvey's confession to police was consistent with his statements to counsel and were also corroborated by the physical evidence. (PCR VOL. 12 385-387). Consequently as a matter of law, Harvey has failed to meet his burden of

establishing prejudice under Strickland. See also Harris v. 25 Fla. L. Weekly D2247 (September 20, State, DCA) (rejecting claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for concession of quilt on lesser charge where there was overwhelming evidence of guilt including defendant's statement); <u>Cf. Van Poyck v. State</u>, 694 So. 2d 686, 696-697(Fla. 1997)(finding no prejudice in claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at guilt phase as defense witnesses even admit that the case was a "loser" at guilt phase); Zamora v. Duqqer, 834 F.2d 956, 960 n.3 (11th Cir. 1988)(rejecting expert testimony regarding criticism of trial attorney's strategy since expert did not present a more plausible or better defense).

In conclusion, this Court should reject Harvey's contention that there should have been an on-the-record announcement that he agreed with the defense strategy to concede guilt to a lesser offense. While Nixon, holds that "to avoid similar problem in the future ... that if a trial judge ever suspects that a similar strategy is being attempted by counsel for the defense, the judge should stop the proceedings and question the defendant on the record as to whether or not he or she consents to counsel's strategy" Nixon, 758 So. 2d at 625 (emphasis supplied), such is a prospective procedure only. Moreover, the situation addressed in Nixon is where the concession was to the crime charged, not a lesser included offense. Where counsel argued the lesser

crime, both Florida and federal courts have concluded that the strategy is valid and there does not have to an on-the-record examination. See, Brown, 755 So. 2d at 629-30 (finding counsel was not ineffective in arguing for second-degree murder where defendant faced the death penalty who has confessed to the crime); Simone, 931 F. 2d at 1195 (finding strategy to admit guilt to lesser crimes while contesting guilt to higher charges was reasonable); McNeal, 722 F. 2d at 677 (finding no constitutional violation where counsel admitted defendant's guilt to lesser charge in light of overwhelming evidence even where admission was without defendant's consent).

### ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT'S FACTUAL FINDING THAT HARVEY DID NOT INVOKE HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL PRIOR TO SPEAKING WITH POLICE IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL AND COMPETENT EVIDENCE

Harvey claims that trial counsel, Bob Watson, ineffective for failing to uncover the booking sheet that was prepared on the day of Harvey's arrest. Harvey alleges that the booking sheet reveals that he initially invoked his right to counsel as soon as he was brought to jail. In denying relief, the trial court made the following specific findings: Harvey was "partially" booked at 6:30 a.m.; he was not asked by the booking officer if he wanted a lawyer; Harvey was questioned by police shortly thereafter; the interview lasted into the afternoon; during Harvey's confession he never asked for a lawyer; the corrections officer ultimately responsible for completion of the booking sheet reported for duty at 3:40 p.m.; Harvey's request for an attorney was made subsequent to that time; the booking sheet was completed at 5:50 p.m. in the presence of the assistant public defender Mr. Clyde Killer. (PCR VOL. 9 1707-1708). Based on the these factual findings, the trial court concluded that introduction of the booking sheet during the suppression hearing, "would have proven no relevant fact." (PCR VOL. 9 1716-1717).

Harvey claims that the trial court's findings are not supported by the record and should therefore be discounted for

the following reason. Officer Bishop, a corrections officer for Okeechobee Sheriff's department, testified that the policy of the Okeechobee jail was to advise a suspect of the right to attorney immediately upon booking. Therefore Harvey asserts that the trial court and this Court should assume that since Harvey was booked in at 6:45 a.m., he invoked his right to counsel at that time. Harvey's argument is both factually and legally without merit.

When reviewing the merits of a claim, the trial court's factual findings are entitled to a presumption of correctness. Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1034 See 1999) (recognizing deference given to trial court's assessment of credibility and findings of fact); Blanco v. State, 702 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 1997) (reasoning standard of review following Rule 3.850 evidentiary hearing is that if factual findings are supported by substantial evidence, appellate court will not substitute its judgment for trial judge's on questions of fact, credibility, or weight); Knight v. Dugger, 574 So. 2d 1066, 1073 (Fla. 1990)(upholding trial court's factual findings that state witnesses were more credible than those of defense was within the court's discretion and will not disturbed on appeal); Van Poyck v. State, 694 2d 686 So. 1997) (upholding credibility determination by trial court when it rejected ineffective assistance of counsel claim based on testimony of defense counsel irrespective of contrary testimony of co-counsel).

In the instant case, the trial court's findings are overwhelming supported by the following evidence. At the evidentiary hearing Ms. Alsdorf, corrections officer for Okeechobee Sheriff's Office, was the booking officer on duty the morning that Harvey was arrested. (PCR VOL. VOL. 10-11 11 166). On that morning, Alsdorf asked Harvey only his name and address. She did not check the box on the booking sheet indicating whether the defendant invoked his right to an attorney. She testified that the normal practice at the jail was not to inquire about an attorney until after the police were finished questioning the suspect. (PCR VOL. 9 173, 179, 181, 183, 185).

A second corrections officer, Eddie Bishop, was also on duty when Harvey was arrested and brought to jail. (PCR VOL. 11 231-232). Mr. Bishop testified that normally, the booking process does include asking a defendant if they want an attorney, however, he does not remember whether he was a part of the booking process in this instance. (PCR VOL. 12 245, 253, 257-258).

A third corrections officer, Rose Bennet, testified that she completed the booking sheet, including the pertinent part regarding Harvey's invocation of his right to an attorney. She

started her shift that day at 3:40 p.m. (PCR VOL. 13 714-717). Consequently her initial contact with Harvey was well after he concluded his confession to police. (PCR VOL. 13 718). Bennet testified that she checked the box indicating Harvey's request for an attorney shortly after he saw the public defender, Clyde Killer. Bennet also made a written notation on the booking sheet indicating that Harvey saw Mr. Killer in person. (PCR VOL. 13 721-723, 727). Bennet says the booking sheet was completed sometime before first appearance which commenced at 5:50 p.m. (PCR VOL. 13 724).

In addition to this testimony, Watson explained that he did not raise this particular argument because his client never told him that he had initially invoked his right to counsel prior to questioning. (PCR VOL. 10 118-119, 122, VOL. 12 399, 424-425). Harvey's sworn testimony at the suppression hearing corroborates this fact. He admitted that he signed five separate waiver cards on that day and more importantly he admitted that he never asked to see a lawyer. (ROA VOL. 2 543-544, 554, 557).

Given the overwhelming record support for the trial court's findings, Harvey's argument that those findings should be ignored is without merit. Harvey has failed to present any evidence which would call into question this Court's previous finding that the confession was voluntary and made subsequent to

any invocation of his right to counsel. <u>Harvey v. State</u>, 529 So. 2d 1083, 1084-1085 (Fla. 1988).

### ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND NO MERIT TO HARVEY'S ALLEGATION THAT CUMULATIVE ERROR RESULTED FROM TRIAL COUNSEL'S INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Harvey claims that Watson failed to maintain credibility with the jury when he failed to deliver on various promises made during opening statements. However, Harvey fails to allege or state with any particularity what specific promises were made and broken. Rather he references the state's closing argument as support for his claim. (IB at 85). The state asserts that this claim is not sufficiently pled as mere references to other pleadings or proceedings does not state a proper basis for relief on appeal. <u>Duest v. Dugger</u>, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990); <u>Roberts v. State</u>,568 So. 2d 1155, 1160 (1990); <u>Knight v. Dugger</u>, 574 So. 2d 1066, 1073 (Fla. 1990)

The first specific allegation of error presented by Harvey is counsel's unreasonable refusal to waive the mitigating factor of "no significant prior history". The alleged harm to appellant is that the state was able to make reference to the guilt phase evidence in its penalty phase closing argument. (ROA VOL. 18 3004-3005). In denying this claim, the trial court determined that Watson made a strategic choice not to waive this mitigator since evidence of the escape had already been admitted

at the guilt phase. (PCR VOL. 9 1713). The record supports the trial court's findings. $^{28}$ 

Watson explained that since the jury was already aware of the escape attempt, there was very little to gain in waiving a potential legal right, i.e., a finding of a statutory mitigator. (PCR VOL. 10 112, VOL. 12 402-404). Watson vigorously argued that the state should not be allowed to rely on the escape evidence as rebuttal to the mitigator. He lost that battle based on the then current state of the law. (ROA VOL. 16 2587-2597, 2626-2635). However, Watson minimized the impact of the state's argument by continuing to stress his guilt/penalty phase theme that these murders were an aberration given that Harvey, had no criminal background at the time of the crime<sup>29</sup>, and therefore he deserved their mercy. He argued that the evidence clearly established that the murders were committed in a panic by two young boys after a robbery had gone terribly wrong. Watson reminded the jury that the escape was set into motion after Harvey walked out of an open jail door. (ROA VOL. 18 3032-3034). No additional evidence was presented at the penalty

The state presented evidence of the escape through several officers during its case-in-chief to demonstrate conscience of guilt. (ROA 2305-2358). The propriety of that admission was upheld by this Court. <u>Harvey v. State</u>, 529 So. 2d 1083, 1086 (Fla. (1988).

The significance of that theme was later codified by this Court in <u>Scull v. State</u>, 533 So. 2d 1137 (Fla. 1988)(explaining that "history" of capital defendant's criminal background should not include any contemporaneous crimes).

phase regarding the escape, nor did the state mention the escape in its opening argument. (ROA VOL. 16 2650-2679, 2981). Watson's decision to press forward with his theme of no significant prior history was reasonable given that the jury was already aware of this evidence and Watson was able to maintain continuity in his overall trial strategy. Cf. Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215, 220 (Fla. 1999)(rejecting claim of ineffective assistance of counsel since admission of damaging evidence had been minimized given admissibility of evidence through state witness); compare Lawrence v. State, 691 So. 2d 1068, 1073 (Fla. 1997)(finding erroneous admission of evidence to be harmless given that it was already properly admitted at guilt phase).

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